
Addendum #3 
Post Collection Management of Solid Wastes, Recyclables, 

and Yard Waste 

St. Louis, Missouri 

CLARIFICATION 

3.5 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL 

Proposals are to be submitted to the address provided on Page 7 of the RFP.  While not required, 
should a Proposer desire to hand deliver their Proposal, please note that the City does have 
personnel at the delivery address and has established procedures to accept deliveries while limiting 
personal contact, as recommended related to the ongoing Covid-19 Pandemic response.  
Specifically, a lobby corridor exists and a drop box is available.  Should proposer desire a receipt for 
the delivery, please call Mary Dusold at 314-647-3111 upon arrival. 

(NOTE – original phone number in RFP, Page 7, inadvertently had the area code as 213.  The above 
number is correct and the area code is 314. )   

*****End of Addendum***** 

ATTACHMENTS TO ADDEDNUM #3 
Attachment 1 – Question and Answers Log 
Attachment 2 – FY19 Tonnage Report 
Attachment 3 – FY19 Fleet Data 
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Question 
Number Content Response

Q1
Is the RFP for Post Collection Management of Solid Wastes, Recyclables and Yard 
Waste currently due on April 14, 2020 at 4pm still on schedule or have dates changed in 
response to COVID-19?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q2

 Per the Project Background (Sec. 4.0), the City states that the current transfer station 
deliveries are made as follows:  Solid Waste on Mondays and Tuesday, Yard Waste on 
Wednesdays and Recyclables on Thursdays and Fridays.  Can the proposer reasonably 
assume that this delivery schedule will remain the same over the ten year term of the 
contract?  If there have been delivery schedule changes in the past, how did the City 
work with the operator to adjust placement of the different materials so as to keep them 
source separated?

No.  Routing and collection days may change based on the location of facilities and/or the 
number of vehicles required to collect Solid Waste, Recyclables and Yard Waste.  The City 
will work with the Contractor and provide notice to allow them to reallocate resources if 
necessary.

Q3

Per the Project Background (Sec. 4.0), can the City provide a more detailed break down 
between solid waste volumes and yard waste volumes of the 6th column titled “Solid 
Waste & Yard Waste Delivered by City Departments” since the City is requesting 
source separate disposal/processing of the two different materials.

See Attachment 2 for available data.  The vast majority delivered by other City Departments is 
solid waste.

Q4

Per the Project Background (Sec. 4.0), it states that the transfer station operator is 
responsible for determining if a recyclables load is clean enough to be loaded into the 
long-haul vehicles for transportation to the processing facility.  Can the City provide 
data upon how many City vehicle loads have been deems too contaminated (volume 
amount or % is fine) to transfer to the long-haul trailer and how many, if any, City 
recyclables long-haul loads have been rejected by the recycling processor?

No, but the current transfer operator estimates that 1,100 tons of recyclables are transported to 
the MRF each month.

Q5

Per the Performance, Payment & Guarantee Bond, the City is asking for a bond to cover 
the cost of the annual operating contract which is customary.  It then requires that the 
bond shall remain in effect until one year after the end of the contract term.  It is 
assumed that a new contractor will also be bonding the contract resulting in a 
“doubling” of bonding financial assurance.  Will the City consider eliminating the one 
year post-contract Performance Bond or, at a minimum,  reducing the amount of the 
Performance Bond to 25% of the last year’s contract due to no remaining on-site 
operational exposure?  In addition, the liability insurance for any final disposal concerns 
would be covered under the Insurance Section.

City would agree to release a duplicative bond, but not reducing contract bond or bond period.

Q6
Per Liquidated Damages (Sec 9. 14.1), will the City consider amending the first box to 
read:  Failure to follow Operating Plan as originally submitted to the City or as amended 
by mutual consent after the commencement of the Contract.  

The terms and conditions of liquidated damages will be finalized during contract negotiations.

Q7 Will the City provide a copy of the City’s South Transfer Station current Operating 
Plan?

The City has provided all permit and operating it has on the South Transfer Station 
(Addendum 1).  The City does not posesses, nor are they aware of, any other permit 
information.



Post Collection Management of Solid Wastes, Recyclables, and Yard Waste
St. Louis, Missouri

ADDENDUM #3

2 of 7 Addendum 3, Attachment 1

Question 
Number Content Response

Q8 Will the City provide a copy of the City of St. Louis’ Solid Waste Management Plan?

The City is part of the St. Louis - Jefferson Solid Waste Management District which was 
formed in 1991.  However, the Management Plan formed under the District is no longer valid 
and/or in place.  According to the District, the courts threw out the plan due to a "Hanckock 
Violation".

Q9 Is the deadline for submission changing in lieu of COVID-19 precautions? Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q10 Will the RFP response date will be delayed? Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q11 Given the potential considerable capital investment that will be made to perform this 
contract, can the renewal term be mutual instead of at the sole discretion of the city?

The City is receptive to considering a 20-year contract if the Selected Proposer can 
demonstrate the value to the City.  The initial Contract Term will not exceed 20 years.  If 
contract does include renewals, City would be agreeable to renewal by mutual agreement.  
However, a failure to mutually agree upon a renewal woul dresult in an expiration of the 
contract.  The City shall have the right to refuse any renewal in its sole and absolute 
discretion.

Q12 With city trucks having a new automated scale process, are all other vehicles (including 
residents) required to weigh out? The transfer stations do not weigh individual, residential vehicles.

Q13 Can we get a daily schedule for the week of approximate dump times to determine when 
peak volume occurs?

The hourly peak time for City vehicles arriving at the transfer stations is between 8 am and 2 
pm.

Q14 Will you please provide a copy of the South Transfer Station operating permit? Please see Q7.

Q15
In the past 5 years of operation, have there be any warnings or NOVs issued to the South 
Transfer Station (other than the Letter of Warning dated May 21, 2018 included in 1st 
Addendum)?   If so, please provide detail and resolution.

None known.

Q16 Please provide the cost of the average annual cost of utilities the operator of the South 
Transfer Station is responsible for paying. The City does not have this information.

Q17
Has the South Transfer Station incurred any flooding in the past five years?  If so: for 
how long of period.  Which party incurs the cost of flood related clean up.  If  both, 
please indicate how the cost is divided. 

The last significant flooding event was in 1993.  The facility does experience some minor 
flooding when there are heavy rains.  Usually once or twice a year.  The City pumps the water 
when this occurs. The facility is closed for several hours. 

Q18
How much money has current contractor spent on preventative maintenance in the last 
five years on the South Transfer Station?  Please provide brief detail of project and 
dollars spent.

Please see Q16.

Q19
Legal Actions” and section 5.7, final bullet point requesting a notarized statement.  
While we can provide information to suffice the request, corporate office is unable to 
send this notarized.  Can this notarization be waived?

For purposes of the proposal, notarized signatures may be waived and replaced by a signature 
and a counter-signature (witness).  Proposer will be required to supplement with the RFP-
required notarized copy prior to negotiations.

Q20

Can the City confirm that the definition of “Diversion” provided in the March 12 
Addendum would not include use of yard waste as alternative daily cover (ADC) 
in a landfill, since that use is not a creation of a new product or renewable 
energy?

Please refer to Addendum 2.
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Question 
Number Content Response

Q21

In order to allow innovative proposals with newer proven technology to qualify, will the 
City allow Proposers to meet the requirements of Section 5.2 and be awarded 
appropriate points by providing the requested information for Waste Management 
Facilities that use the same technology as the proposed facilities and which the Proposer 
has the technical ability to build and operate?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q22
 In order to allow innovative proposals with newer proven technology to qualify, can the 
City confirm that Proposed Facilities that are not Currently Operating are eligible to 
earn maximum points for Section 5.7 if they address all the requirements therein?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q23

Table 5: In order to allow innovative proposals to qualify on their merits, please confirm 
that for all criteria, the ratings and possible points mean that unless otherwise specified, 
the points awarded to one Proposer will be based solely on the merits of the Proposal 
and not in relation to any other Proposals—i.e.., for any given criteria, one, none, or all 
Proposals could receive 100% of available points if the Proposals merited such a score.

Yes, points for qualification and technical approach will be awarded on the merits of the 
Proposer's Proposal and not in relation to any other Proposals received.

Q24

Table 6, Criterion 2: Can the City confirm or correct that this should be a maximum of 
30 points, not 30 points per facility? With 100 points available for Qualifications, the 
ability to earn more than half the points on one criterion makes the other criteria 
mathematically irrelevant.

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q25
 Table 7, Criterion 9: Can the City confirm in the description of the Operating Plan 
(Section 6.3) how Landfill Diversion will be demonstrated and tracked for use in the 
EPA WARM model?

Each Proposer shall demonstrate how their proposed system and operations will result in 
landfill diversion.  The City will consider Proposer's assertions and will use them as 
appropriate in evaluating potential GHG emission reductions (using US EPA WARM Model.

Q26

For the evaluation of the Financial Proposal in Section 8.5, can Proposers be allowed to 
include information on direct financial benefits the City will realize based on the 
Proposal, such as  savings per ton over the Existing System, and will the City consider 
these benefits when ranking the Financial Proposals?

The RFP already  reads, "The Proposer with the Financial Proposal that is most advantageous 
to the City will receive a score of 100."  Financially advantageous may include considerations 
such as reducing the number of waste collection vehicles required by the City.  Proposers may 
include information on direct financial benefits that they believe the City may realize from 
their proposed approach, however it will be solely up to the City to evaluate and consider 
Proposer's assertions in the evaluation of proposals.

Q27

For the evaluation of the Financial Proposal in Section 8.5, will the City consider direct 
financial benefits which are not quantifiable on a per-ton basis, such as creation of new 
jobs at the proposed and ancillary facilities in an Opportunity Zone and new capital 
investment for the construction of the proposed and ancillary facilities in an Opportunity 
Zone, and assign appropriate points?

Similar to Q26, the City will consider any financial related information and assertions 
presented in the Proposal.  Further, please note that the scoring already allocates points for 
Proposed Facilities that are located within the City. 

Q28
Will the City give points to Proposals that are clear and transparent on landfill diversion
so that residents can know how much of the material that they put in their recycling bins
actually ends up in a landfill?

This type of information should be provided in the Proposer's Operating Plan.  Section 6.3 of 
the RFP. Points are already awarded to a Proposer's Operating Plan.
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Question 
Number Content Response

Q29 In the new contract, does the City intend to require the winning bidder to report publicly 
how much of the trash ends up in a landfill?

The terms and conditions will be determined during contract negotiations.  The City does not 
believe answering this question is necessary for Proposers to respond to the RFP.

Q30
When the selection committee analyzes the Proposals, will it differentiate between the 
amount of material that goes to a recycling center and the amount that is actual Landfill 
Diversion? How will points be awarded to incentivize Landfill Diversion?

Please see Q28.

Q31 During the RFP evaluation process, how is the City going to evaluate and score the 
credibility of Landfill Diversion portions of the Proposals?

The credibility of Landfill Diversion will be determined through Proposer's Qualifications and 
Operating Plan.

Q32
In the new contract, is the City going to require the winning Proposer to meet its 
Landfill Diversion promise? If so, how? Will there be financial penalties? If so, how 
much will be the penalties be?

The City intends the successful proposer to deliver on their stated technical approach, which 
would include their "landfill diversion promise".  As stated in Q29, terms and conditions will 
be determined during contract negotiations. 

Q33
What does the City spend annually maintaining its solid waste collection fleet? Please 
provide any fleet data available for FY2018 and FY2019, and anything available for 
year-to-date FY2020.

See Attachment 3 for available information.

Q34
Is there information available on the annual CO2 emissions of the City’s solid waste 
collection fleet? What fuel do they use? How many gallons of fuel does the City's solid 
waste collection fleet consume annually?

Between August 1, 2018 and July 30, 2019, the Refuse Division consumed 281,024 gallons of 
diesel fuel for material collections.   To calculate baseline GHG emissions associated with 
collecting refuse and recyclables, the City uses the calculation set forth in the preamble to the 
joint EPA/Department of Transportation rulemaking on May 7, 2010 that established the 
initial National Program fuel economy standards for model years 2012-2016. The agencies 
agreed to use a common conversion factor of 10,180 grams of CO2 emissions per gallon of 
diesel consumed (Federal Register 2010). For reference, to obtain the number of grams of 
CO2 emitted per gallon of diesel combusted, the heat content of the fuel per gallon can be 
multiplied by the kg CO2 per heat content of the fuel. This value assumes that all the carbon 
in the diesel is converted to CO2 (https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gases-
equivalencies-calculator-calculations-and-references).

Q35
Can the City provide a list of Refuse Department vehicles that includes the year, make, 
model and body size of each collection vehicle? Please include trucks that have been 
ordered for FY2020 and FY2021 but not yet delivered.

Please see Q33.

Q36
 If a proposal can bring about decreases in GHG emissions through improved 
operational efficiencies for the Refuse Department, would the City consider and award 
points for those decreases in GHG emissions as part of the evaluation of that proposal?

The RFP already provides points for reducing the number of vehicles and the proximity of 
Proposed Facilities to the City Center.  Please refer to Addendum 2 for most recent scoring.

Q37 Can the City provide an electronic data file of all City scale tickets by trash, recycle and 
yard waste for FY2018 and FY2019, and anything available for year-to-date FY2020? Not available on a ticket-by-ticket basis.  See RFP Table 2 and 3 for total volumes.

Q38 How does the Fleet Department allocate costs to the Refuse Department? Is it based on 
the number of vehicles, or some other metric?

Costs are budgeted on an annual basis.  There is no cost allocation made during each fiscal 
year.  No specific metric used to develop budget (i.e. # of trucks).
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Question 
Number Content Response

Q39 How many job vacancies are there in the Refuse Division? 22 current vacancies (out of ~ 165 positions) including drivers, helpers, and labor foreman. 

Q40 Does the City keep or track any performance metrics for the Refuse Department? None.

Q41
Currently, operating costs, maintenance, utilities and improvements at the South 
Transfer Station are the responsibility of the operator. Does the City expect that status to 
continue going forward?

Yes 

Q42 What paperwork or record keeping does the City require for the Public Drop-off Area? The City maintains written records for each citizen drop-off.  The successful Proposer will be 
responsible for weighing outbound rolloff containers and providing scale information.

Q43 Can the City provide the past two years of inspection reporting for the scale, scale 
house, and building at the South Transfer Station?

The City does not have any of the records requested.  Please see Q15 regarding NOVs and/or 
LOWs.

Q44

The current terms of the lease of the South Transfer Station between the City of St. 
Louis and Waste Management of Missouri dated September 2002 require the Lessee to 
keep the facility “secure, clean, and in good repair.” Will the City enforce this provision 
and require Waste Management to deliver the premises in that condition at turnover of 
the facilities to the subsequent lessee?

The City expects the transfer station to be in good repair and "broom clean" at the time of 
transition.  Details will be nogotiated with the successful Proposer during negotiation of terms 
and conditions.

Q45

When the current operator vacates and if it is discovered repairs are needed for the 
South Transfer Station to operate safely and legally in its current configuration and 
function, what would be the City’s responsibility (or the previous Lessee) and what 
would be the new operator’s responsibility?

This will be addressed in Contract Negotiations with the Selected Proposer. A final walk 
through will be performed as part of the transition and will provide a final opportunity to 
negotiate any final concerns.

Q46

Can the City explain how the transition from the current operator to a new operator of 
the South Transfer Station will be managed? Would the new operator be given the 
opportunity to make changes or adjustments ahead of assuming operations? Or will the 
South Transfer Station close on one day under the current operator and re-open the next 
day under a new operator, who will then be able to make changes or improvements?

Proposers should make their recommendations in their Proposal, specifically within the 
Operating Plan and  Resource Allocation Plan; Sections 6.3 and 6.4 respectively.

Q47

Question 15 of Addendum 1 indicated the scales and software at the South Transfer 
Station are owned by Waste Management. Is Waste Management going to remove the 
scales and software at the South Transfer Station at the termination of their lease? If yes, 
how will operations continue in the interim period before a new scale and software can 
be installed and become operational?

It is assumed that the current contractor will remove their equipment at the end of their 
contract / lease (pending possible agreeements with the successful Proposer to purchase).  The 
City expects all Proposers to detail in their Operating Plan and Resource Allocation Plan how 
they will address the sclae related transitional needs.  See Q46.

Q48
Will the City amend Section 1.1 of the RFP to allow for a term of 20 years so Proposers 
can secure appropriate financing for development of new facilities requiring significant 
new capital investment?

Please see Q11.

Q49

In order to relieve smaller firms, including many MBEs and WBEs, of the obligations of 
a formal consortium and free them to join a Proposal, can the City expand the definition 
of “Proposer” in Section 2.0 to include experienced contractors and professional 
services providers?

The current definition does not preclude contractors and professional services providers.  We 
believe this is already evident in the RFP language.
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Question 
Number Content Response

Q50
In order to allow innovative proposals with innovative proven technology to qualify, will 
the City change the name of Section 5.2 from “Operating Facilities” to “Reference 
Facilities” to be more in line with the intent of the itemized list in this section?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q51
To ensure Reference Facilities are of appropriate quality, will the City add to the list of 
itemized information in Section 5.2 a requirement to disclose and explain any NOVs 
within the past five (5) years.

No.  The City has the right to check references, visit facilities, and perform their own 
evaluation of quaility (inclussive of regulatory compliance records - i.e. State database and 
files).

Q52

 Will the City add language to the concluding paragraph of Section 5.2, giving 
preference to facilities that advance the priorities of the Project Objectives by reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions and utilizing waste as a resource rather than continuing to use 
landfilling as the default destination for waste?

No.  The Purpose of Section 5.2 is for Proposers to demonstrate that they have operated 
facilities similar to the ones they are proposing to use for the post-collection management of 
City Solid Wastes, Recyclables and/or Yard Waste (Section 6.0).

Q53 Can the City clarify if Section 5.5 requires the contracts and agreements to be executed 
in the State of Missouri?

This section does not require inclusion of contracts and agreemeents that were only (emphasis 
added) executed in Missouri.  However, the City does not desire voluminous submittals and, 
as such, would ask that Proposers limit to similar agreements to the technical approach being 
proposed and limited to the past 5 years.

Q54

To prevent the exclusion of smaller firms, including many MBEs and WBEs, will the 
City amend Section 5.7 to provide that audited financial statements are required only of 
publicly traded firms? It is not common practice for privately-held firms of any size to 
execute and/or publish audited financial statements.

The City expects audited financial statements for any Proposer including Consortium, Lead 
Consortium Member and/or Fianancial Sponsor - publicly or privately-held.  It is understood 
that sub-tier consultants and/or members may not have "audited" financials.

Q55

Can the City add information to the Technical Approach to better instruct Proposers on 
the intent of the requirements? For example:  Section 6.0. Technical Approach. The 
primary objective of this technical approach is to measure the Project objectives of 
decreases in greenhouse gas emissions and optimizing the use of waste as a resource for 
products and/or renewal energy.   Section 7.0. Financial Proposal. This section is 
intended to calculate the total financial benefit realized by the City of St. Louis from the 
Proposal. The first section calculates the proposed cost per ton to the City from the 
Proposal. Such calculation of cost per ton shall be net of any savings the City of St. 
Louis will realize from the proposed facility.   Section 8.4. Technical Approach. The 
primary objective of this technical approach is to measure the Project objectives of 
decreasing greenhouse gas emissions and optimizing the use of waste as a resource for 
products and/or renewal energy.

The City believes the RFP clearly identifies the objective of the Project.  Section 1.0 states  "It 
is the objective of the City that these Target Waste Streams be managed in a manner that:

• Minimizes cost to St. Louis residents
• Decreases greenhouse gas emissions
• Optimizes the use of waste as a resource for products and/or renewable energy"

The RFP already states "The Proposer with the Financial Proposal that is most advantageous 
to the City will receive a score of 100."  (Section 8.1)    

Q56

 In Table 7, Criterion 1: To clarify the criterion and emphasize the intent of the Project, 
can the City replace the use of the undefined term “recovered” with “utilized,” or 
otherwise incorporate use of the defined term “Diversion/Landfill Diversion,” as per 
Addendum 1?

No. 
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Q57
In Table 7: Can the City award 4 points for each 10% Landfill Diversion, which would 
value the maximum award similarly as the Price component, rather than 1 point per 
10%, which would value the maximum award at only 3.3% of the total score?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q58 In Table 7, Criterion 2: Can the City award a maximum of 20 points for reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by the City fleet, as it is a stated priority of the Project? Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q59
 In Table 7, Criterion 4: The table lists only how these 5 points can be earned by a 
landfill. To provide parity, can the City expand on the description to specify how the 
points can be earned by non-landfill facilities?

Table 7, Criterion 4 relates to landfill gas collection and control system, which can reduce 
GHG emissions.  Non Landfill Facilities are addressed in Table 7, Criterion 1.

Q60 In Table 7, Criterion 5: Can the City clarify that a maximum of 5 points may be 
awarded, not 5 points per facility the Proposer operates or proposes? Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q61
In Table 7, Criterion 6: Can the City clarify if these distances are one-way or round-trip? 
Can the City confirm that a haul distance of greater than 40 miles would be awarded 0 
points? Can the City clarify that a maximum of 5 points can be awarded?

These are one way trips.  Please refer to Addendum 2 for scoring.

Q62
In Table 7, can the City incorporate Criteria 8, 10, and 11, into Criterion 7 as part of 
addressing basic features of a facility, without which no facility could legally or safely 
operate?

Please refer to Addendum 2.

Q63

In Table 7, the items in Criterion 7 (along with Criteria 8, 10, and 11) are basic features 
of a facility, without which no facility could legally or safely operate, and read as draft 
contract terms. Making Criterion 7 a “pass/fail” criterion allows for reallocation of 
points to Criteria 1 and 2, in fulfillment of the Project Objectives Can the City reallocate 
these points from Criterion 7 (along with Criteria 8, 10, and 11) to Criteria 1 and 2?

Please refer to Addendum 2.
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Cost Summary by Vehicle Classification and Model Year
Vehicle Category Code - Description Replacement
         Model Year Maint & Repair Fuel Gallons Fuel Cost Depreciation Total Cost Estimate
Row Labels Count of UNIT_NO Sum of M&R_Total Sum of FUEL_QTY Sum of FUEL_DO Sum of Annual_Depreciation Sum of Total_Annual_Cost Sum of BUDGET_DO

8761 - STRAIGHT TRUCK REFUSE REAR-LOADER >33,000 GVW 17 $175,623 37,123.9 88,238$  $266,698 $530,560 2,550,000$  
2000 4 $31,849 5,293.6  12,759$  $60,000 $104,608 600,000$  
2004 1 $6,871 2,943.6  6,999$  $15,000 $28,870 150,000$  
2005 1 $18,402 2,431.3  5,801$  $15,000 $39,203 150,000$  
2007 2 $23,496 6,258.6 14,784$  $30,602 $68,882 300,000$  
2015 8 $94,218 18,549.5 44,145$  $131,096 $269,459 1,200,000$  
2019 1 $787 1,647.3  3,751$  $15,000 $19,538 150,000$  

8762 - STRAIGHT TRUCK REFUSE SIDE-LOADER >33,000 GVW 86 $1,814,903 194,499.4                460,172$                $1,899,167 $4,174,242 22,790,000$                 
2000 24 $293,761 21,351.7 50,913$  $530,000 $874,674 6,360,000$  
2005 3 $66,178 5,377.7  12,632$  $66,250 $145,060 795,000$  
2007 13 $450,991 38,167.4 90,149$  $287,083 $828,223 3,445,000$  
2010 5 $147,167 10,742.2 25,257$  $110,417 $282,840 1,325,000$  
2011 3 $105,945 7,434.5  17,835$  $66,250 $190,030 795,000$  
2012 8 $321,387 13,476.3 32,077$  $176,667 $530,130 2,120,000$  
2013 4 $159,637 10,539.7 25,428$  $88,333 $273,398 1,060,000$  
2017 4 $86,811 17,456.2 41,778$  $88,333 $216,922 1,060,000$  
2018 14 $154,966 54,647.6 128,882$                $309,167 $593,015 3,710,000$  
2019 8 $28,060 15,306.1 35,224$  $176,667 $239,951 2,120,000$  

8764 - STRAIGHT TRUCK REFUSE AUTOMATED-LOADER - CART 18 $459,576 49,399.4 117,180$                $420,000 $996,755 5,040,000$  
2007 2 $63,755 2,951.1  6,917$  $46,667 $117,338 560,000$  
2012 6 $213,286 16,821.9 40,016$  $140,000 $393,302 1,680,000$  
2014 6 $172,683 22,010.9 52,669$  $140,000 $365,352 1,680,000$  
2018 2 $6,668 4,636.5  10,875$  $46,667 $64,210 560,000$  
2019 2 $3,184 2,979.0 6,702$  $46,667 $56,552 560,000$  

Quantity Annual Cost
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